RECEIVED

May 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000977
Case No. 2020-CP-15-00604

David Mack Johnson, Sr. Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Solar, LLC, Palmetto South Carolina Solar I, LLC, Brightest Solar, Inc., Sunlight Financial, LLC, Cross River Bank, Great America Services Corporation and Robert Dodge Defendants,

of which Palmetto Solar, LLC, Palmetto South Carolina Solar I, LLC, Brightest Solar, Inc., Sunlight Financial, LLC, Cross River Bank, and Robert Dodge are the Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Under the Federal Arbitration Act, courts must place arbitration agreements on equal footing with other contracts and compel claims to arbitration—including fraud claims—unless the plaintiff provides evidence or testimony attacking the validity of the arbitration agreement. A plaintiff's mere request that the Court permit discovery on fraud claims generally is insufficient to preclude, or postpone, an order compelling claims to arbitration.

Here, the issues presented are:

- I. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellants' motion to compel arbitration "as being premature" in a Form 4 Order when Appellants presented a written agreement to arbitrate signed by the plaintiff and the plaintiff presented no evidence to dispute he signed the agreement.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in declining to "proceed summarily to the determination of the issue" upon which it based its denial of Appellants' motion to compel arbitration "as being premature."
- III. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to dismiss claims against Appellant Cross River Bank when it is undisputed that the plaintiff never served the bank with process.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the denial of Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration according to the terms of an arbitration agreement Respondent David Mack Johnson, Sr. (“Purchaser”) concedes he signed. On October 8, 2020, Purchaser filed a summons and complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Colleton County. (Compl.; R. at 8.) Purchaser alleged three causes of action related to the installation of solar panels at his home in Colleton County: breach of warranty, fraud, and breach of contract. (Compl. ¶¶ 6, 8–12, 13–19, 20–25; R. at 9, 10, 11, 13) Purchaser sued all Appellants collectively on the basis that they “acted in concert and as a joint enterprise in representing, selling and financing the solar system to [Purchaser].” (Compl. ¶ 7; R. at 9.)

Purchaser served Appellants Palmetto Solar, LLC, Sunlight Financial, LLC, Brightest Solar, LLC, and Robert Dodge with process. (Affs. Service, Oct. 27, 2020; R. at 95–98.) Purchaser did not serve Appellant Cross River Bank with process. (Public Index Docket, Jan. 10, 2022; R. at 99–101.) In lieu of filing an answer, Appellants Palmetto Solar, LLC, Palmetto South Carolina Solar I, LLC, and Sunlight Financial, LLC (collectively, the “Palmetto Solar Appellants”) timely moved to stay or dismiss this action and compel an arbitration pursuant to an arbitration agreement signed by Purchaser. (Mot. Compel Arbitration, Dec. 16, 2020; R. at 42.)¹ Appellants Brightest Solar, Inc. and Robert Dodge (collectively, the “Brightest Solar Appellants”) timely joined the motion to compel arbitration. (Joinder, Dec. 21, 2020; R. at 58.) The Palmetto Solar Appellants filed a supporting memorandum of law shortly thereafter. (Mem. Supp., Dec. 31, 2020; R. at 60.) The motion and memorandum asked the Court to compel Purchaser’s claims to arbitration and dismiss or stay those claims. (*Id.* at 1; R. at 60; Mot. Compel at 3; R. at 44.)

¹ Appellant Cross River Bank (the “Bank”) joined the motion and additionally moved to dismiss based on Purchaser’s failure to serve it with process, which precluded the Court from asserting personal jurisdiction over the Bank. (Mot. Compel at 1 n.1; R. at 42.)

The trial court heard the motion at an in-person hearing at which only counsel appeared. (Mot. Compel Hr'g. Tr., Jan. 6, 2021; R. at 23.) At the hearing, Appellants referred to the installation contract signed by Purchaser that contained the arbitration agreement. (*Id.* at 3:16–21; R. at 25.) Purchaser presented no briefs or affidavits before, during, or at the hearing. (*Id.*) Two days later, the Court issued a Form 4 order denying the motion to compel arbitration “as being premature.” (Order, Jan. 8, 2021; R. at 1.)

Appellants timely filed motions for reconsideration on all the grounds raised in their motions to compel arbitration. (Palmetto Solar's Mot. Reconsider, Jan. 19, 2021; R. at 67; Brightest Solar's Mot. Reconsider, Jan. 19, 2021; R. at 73.) The trial court held a hearing on Appellants' motions five months later. (Reconsideration Hr'g. Tr., June 28, 2021; R. at 34.) At that hearing, Purchaser indicated that he intended to file an amended complaint, and the trial court gave Purchaser thirty days to do so, holding Appellants' motions in abeyance until the amended complaint was filed. (*Id.* at 6:24–7:11; R. at 39–40.) Purchaser filed his amended complaint, (Am. Compl., July 27, 2021; R. at 15), and, after receiving guidance from chambers that a formal motion was unnecessary, Appellants timely filed a joint letter incorporating their previous motions and supporting arguments in response to Purchaser's amended complaint, (Ltr. re Mot. Compel Arbitration, Aug. 3, 2021, 2021; R. at 84.) After consideration of the amended complaint and Appellant's submission, the trial court denied Appellants' motions for reconsideration. (Order Den. Mot. to Recon., August 12, 2021; R. at 4.) Specifically, the trial court's order “denie[d] arbitration, dismissal, and reconsideration as to all [Appellants].” (Email re Court's Order, Aug. 25, 2021; R. at 102.)

Appellants timely filed and served their Joint Notice of Appeal. (Not. Appeal, Sep. 7, 2021; R. at 117.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Purchaser signed a written Solar Installation Agreement (the “Agreement”) in May 2018.² (Mot. Compel, Ex. 1; R. at 45.) The Agreement included various terms relating to the sale and installation of a solar panel system at Purchaser’s home, including a warranty and various disclaimers and disclosures. (*Id.*) Notably, as required by South Carolina law, the Agreement states at the top of the first page: “South Carolina Sales Only: THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT.” (*Id.* at 1; R. at 46.) The Agreement’s arbitration clause, located under the heading “Arbitration and Class Action Waiver,” further stipulates that the parties would resolve disputes “under or relating to this Installation Agreement . . . by binding arbitration, as described below, instead of in court.” (*Id.* ¶ 14; R. at 47–48.) The arbitration clause further establishes that it is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act and that the arbitration clause is applicable to the parties, as well as other third-parties: “In addition to [Purchaser] and [Palmetto], the rights and duties described in this arbitration agreement apply to the [Palmetto]’s affiliates and their officers, directors, members, managers, partners, independent contractors, and employees; and any third party co-defendant of a claim subject to this arbitration provision.” (*Id.* ¶ 14(vi); R. at 48.)

Upon the execution of the Agreement, including its arbitration clause, a solar panel system was installed at Purchaser’s home. (Am. Compl. ¶ 11; R. at 18.) Purchaser claims the system suffers from various defects in materials, workmanship, and installation. (*Id.* ¶ 6; R. at 17.) He also claims the system fails to perform as originally promised. (*Id.* ¶ 14; R. at 19.)

² Purchaser signed the Agreement using DocuSign software that permits parties to securely and electronically sign documents. The contract includes a “Certificate of Completion” indicating when and how the parties securely signed the agreement. Courts have approved using signing agreements using DocuSign, which was used here. *See Graham v. Hall’s Southern Kitchens, LLC*, 331 F.R.D. 619, 622 (D.S.C. 2018).

Over two years after the system was installed, Purchaser filed a complaint against Appellants and served it on some, but not all, of the named defendants. (Docket; R. at 99–101.) Appellants sought to compel the arbitration of Purchaser’s claims on basis of the arbitration agreement. (Mot. Compel at 1–2; R. at 42–43.) Appellant Cross River Bank also moved to dismiss based on Purchaser’s failure to serve it with process. (*Id.* at 1 n.1; R. at 42.)

At the hearing on the motion, Purchaser’s opposition was premised on his fraud claim and the general position that “we don’t think that it’s fair to cause us to have to go to an arbitration.” (Mot. Compel Hr’g. Tr., Jan. 6, 2021, 5:1–2; R. at 27.) Still, Purchaser’s counsel conceded that Purchaser entered into the Agreement with Palmetto containing the arbitration agreement. (*Id.* at 4:19–20, 5:2–3; R. at 26, 27.) Purchaser offered no briefs or affidavits in opposition to Appellants’ motions before, during, or at the hearing. Moreover, Purchaser did not address his failure to serve Appellant Cross River Bank with process. Rather than rule on Purchaser’s stated ground for challenging the arbitration agreement, the trial court denied Appellants’ motion “as being premature”—without any further reasoning or guidance to the parties. (Order Den. Mot. to Compel; R. at 1.)

In their motions for reconsideration, Appellants, among other arguments, requested that the trial court reconcile its order with the statutory requirement that the trial court “proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised.” (Brightest Solar’s Mot. Reconsider at 3 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a)); R. at 75.) Again, Purchaser offered no briefs or affidavits in opposition to Appellants’ motions before, during, or at the hearing. Despite the detailed arguments raised, the trial court denied Appellants’ motions without any express consideration of Appellants’ substantive arguments. (Order Den. Mot. to Recon.; R. at 4.) Appellants timely appealed. (Not. Appeal; R. at 117.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to *de novo* review. *Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 171, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007).

The proper interpretation of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure's requirement for dismissal where a plaintiff fails to serve a defendant with process is also subject to *de novo* review. *Kosciusko v. Parham*, 428 S.C. 481, 496, 836 S.E.2d 362, 370 (Ct. App. 2019) (noting that court interprets rules like statutes); *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008) ("Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law *de novo*.").

ARGUMENT

The policy under both federal and South Carolina law is to favor arbitration of disputes. *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2016) (citing *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 590, 553 S.E.2d 110, 115 (2001)). The Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") establishes "a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements" and "requires courts rigorously to enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms." *Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis*, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1621 (2018) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Here, Appellants moved to enforce the subject arbitration agreement under both the FAA and the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act at the appropriate stage of the case, presenting an un rebutted arbitration agreement that covered Purchaser's claims. This Court should carry out that policy.

South Carolina court rules and Due Process require plaintiffs to serve defendants with process before a court can assert personal jurisdiction over the defendant. When a defendant has not been served with process, it may move to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(5) and (2), SCRC. Here,

it is undisputed that Purchaser failed to serve the Bank with process, so it is legal error to allow Purchaser to maintain its claims against the Bank in the face of its motion to dismiss.

I. Appellants' motion to compel arbitration was ripe for consideration by the trial court.

The trial court's ruling in a Form 4 Order that Appellant's motion to compel arbitration was "premature," without any additional reasoning or guidance, was legal error. Indeed, filing motions to compel arbitrations in lieu of responsive pleadings at the outset of an action is a routine and necessary practice when an arbitration agreement exists that is valid on its face. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a) ("On application of a party showing an agreement described in Section 15-48-10, and the opposing party's refusal to arbitrate, the court shall order the parties to proceed with arbitration"); *accord* 9 U.S.C. § 3. In fact, a movant risks waiving the right to enforce the arbitration agreement by failing to timely move to compel arbitration. *See, e.g., Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth*, 374 S.C. 122, 127–28, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251–52 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding that a party seeking to compel arbitration waived right by engaging in extensive discovery).

Under South Carolina law, if the movant presents evidence of an agreement, the question for the trial court becomes whether the "opposing party denies the existence of the agreement to arbitrate" S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a). In such a circumstance, "the court shall proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised and shall order arbitration if found for the moving party, otherwise, the application shall be denied." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a). Accordingly, the trial court's denial of arbitration here can only be premised on an inference that Purchaser "denie[d] the existence of the agreement to arbitrate." *See id.* Purchaser, however, did not deny the existence of the Agreement. By contrast, he conceded that he entered into the Agreement. (Mot. Compel Hr'g. Tr. 4:19–20, Jan. 6, 2021; R. at 26.) Yet, he still purported to oppose the motion to compel arbitration without putting forward any brief, affidavit, or sworn

testimony whatsoever. (*Id.*; R. at 26.) This mere claimed resistance to arbitration was insufficient under the plain language of the statute. So too was the trial court's failure to rule on the issue of the arbitration clause's enforceability in its one-sentence Form 4 order under these circumstances was legal error.

II. This Court should reverse the trial court because a valid arbitration agreement exists and because Purchaser's claims fall within the scope of the agreement.

Courts look to state law to determine whether the arbitration agreement between the parties is valid and enforceable. *Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle*, 556 U.S. 624, 630–31 (2009). For a contract to be enforceable under South Carolina law, the contract must have the following elements: offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009). All three elements are satisfied with regard to the arbitration agreement in this case.

A. Appellants may properly enforce the arbitration agreement.

A valid arbitration agreement exists under both South Carolina and federal law that may be enforced by Appellants.

First, the written arbitration agreement confirms the existence of an offer and acceptance as evidenced by the parties' electronic signatures. Under South Carolina law, a signature must not be denied legal effect because it is in electronic form. S.C. Code Ann. § 2-6-70(D) ("An electronic signature satisfies a law requiring a signature."); *see also* 15 U.S.C. § 7001(a)(1) (establishing authority for enforcement of contract containing electronic signature in interstate commerce). The use of electronic signatures is not a barrier to enforcement of written agreements. *Metro. Reg'l Info. Sys., Inc. v. Am. Home Realty Network, Inc.*, 722 F.3d 591, 602 (4th Cir. 2013) ("Courts have

uniformly applied the E-Sign Act to subsequent interpretations of the FAA’s written provision requirement.”).³

Second, the parties’ agreement also contains an exchange of valuable consideration. In addition to the consideration provided by the terms of the agreement, the arbitration agreement includes a mutual promise to arbitrate. (Agreement, ¶ 14; R. at 47–48.) This mutual promise constitutes sufficient consideration to support the arbitration provision. *Rogers v. Clayton Homes Florence*, No. 4:19-cv-00570-DCC, 2019 WL 6608728, at *3 (D.S.C. Dec. 5, 2019).

Finally, the non-signatory Appellants may enforce the arbitration agreement, which expressly provides that it applies to Palmetto’s “affiliates and their officers, directors, members, managers, partners, independent contractors, and employees; and any third party co-defendant of a claim subject to this arbitration provision.” (Agreement, ¶ 14(vi); R. at 48.) Appellants may also enforce the agreement as third-party beneficiaries or under principles of equitable estoppel because Purchaser’s intertwined claims plainly rely on the terms of the Agreement. *See Am. Bankers Ins. Group, Inc. v. Long*, 453 F.3d 623, 630 (4th Cir. 2006) (holding that a nonsignatory to an arbitration clause of an agreement may enforce the clause where the plaintiff relies upon the agreement in seeking recovery); *Brantley v. Republic Mortg. Ins. Co.*, 424 F.3d 392, 395–96 (4th Cir. 2005); *Washington Square Sec., Inc. v. Aune*, 385 F.3d 432, 435 (4th Cir. 2004); *R.J. Griffin & Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass’n*, 384 F.3d 157, 164 (4th Cir. 2004); *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, No. 3:11-888-CMC, 2011 WL 4089435, at *6 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011); *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 290, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012). Indeed,

³ If the Court had any factual questions regarding the arbitration agreement, at a minimum limited discovery would have been the proper procedure for resolving those questions—not dismissal of the motion to compel as “premature.” *See Deputy v. Lehman Bros.*, 345 F.3d 494, 511 (7th Cir. 2003) (permitting only limited discovery in rare situations).

Purchaser expressly alleges that Appellants “acted in concert and as a joint enterprise in representing, selling and financing the solar system to [Purchaser].” (Am. Compl. ¶ 7; R. at 17–18.)

Here, Purchaser never raised challenges to Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration on these contractual grounds. To the extent his counsel claims that Purchaser never received a copy of the arbitration agreement as a means of challenging the validity of it, that ground fails to make the arbitration provision unenforceable. This is especially true given that Purchaser’s counsel contradicted this claim by arguing at the hearing that the agreements were sent to Purchaser’s email. (Mot. Compel Hr’g. Tr. 6:22–23; R. at 28.)

In any event, Purchaser failed to present any evidence at the hearing necessary to invalidate the agreement. (Mot. Compel Hr’g. Tr. 7:16–17; R. at 29; Reconsideration Hr’g. Tr. 6:4–10; R. at 39.) While his counsel may have argued that the agreement should not be enforced, counsel’s argument is not sworn testimony to be accepted by the Court. *Harper v. Bolton*, 239 S.C. 541, 562, 124 S.E.2d 54, 64 (1962) (noting that “statements of counsel in an argument are not evidence.”). By failing to attach any sworn statements supporting any other claims that the agreement is not valid, Purchaser failed to carry his burden of proving the agreement was invalid. *See Masters v. KOL, Inc.*, 431, S.C. 28, 37, 846 S.E.2d 893, 897 (Ct. App. 2020) (placing burden on party resisting arbitration). Accordingly, Purchaser did not rebut the fact he entered into a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement, so the court below erred by failing to grant Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration.

B. Purchaser’s claims fall within the scope of the agreement.

“To decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses a dispute, a court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad

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