**RECEIVED**

**Jun 07 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000977

---

David Mack Johnson, Sr.....Respondent,

-v-

Palmetto Solar, LLC, Palmetto South Carolina Solar I, LLC, Brightest Solar, Inc., Sunlight Financial, LLC, Cross River Bank, Great America Services Corporation, and Robert Dodge, Defendants,

Of Whom, Palmetto Solar, LLC, Palmetto South Carolina Solar I, LLC, Brightest Solar, Inc., Sunlight Financial, LLC, Cross River Bank, and Robert Dodge are the.....Appellants.

---

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

At the January 6, 2021 hearing on Appellant's Motion to Compel Arbitration, Appellants argued that Johnson's action should be dismissed in favor of arbitration because the Installation Agreement contained an arbitration provision covering all claims related to the Installation Agreement, and Johnson signed the Installation Agreement. (R. p. 25, line 18-p. 26, line 11). Counsel for the Palmetto Solar entities and Sunlight Financial, LLC informed the Circuit Court that he also represented Cross River Bank, but that it was not before the Circuit Court for the hearing. (*Id.* at p. 3, lines 9-15).

Counsel for Johnson argued that Johnson had alleged fraud, taking the alleged conduct outside of the Arbitration Agreement, and that the Arbitration Agreement was unconscionable. (*Id.* at p. 5, lines 6-11). Additionally, counsel requested that the Circuit Court temporarily deny the motion until the parties had an opportunity to engage in discovery. (*Id.* at p. 5, lines 12-13). This led to the Circuit Court denying Appellants' motion as "premature". (R. p. 1-3).

On Appellants' Motions to Reconsider, Appellants did not specifically contend that the Circuit Court abused its discretion or lacked authority to deny the motion

as premature given the procedural posture of the case. Rather, Appellants conceded that the Circuit Court could direct the parties to engage in discovery to determine the validity of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 67-72). Appellants instead chose to argue that a party must point to fraud in the inducement of the arbitration agreement to avoid arbitration of the contract. (*Id.* at 3). Appellants also argued that under this Court's precedents Johnson failed to specifically challenge the Arbitration Agreement, requiring the Circuit Court to grant the motion. (R. p. 38, lines 2-22). Counsel for Johnson again argued that the allegations of fraud would be supported by discovery. (*Id.* at 6, lines 17-22). The Circuit Court denied Appellants' Motions to Reconsider for presenting issues that could have been raised prior to judgment, and for only re-litigating previously raised issues. (R. p. 4-6).

**II. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a) did not require the Circuit Court to immediately grant Appellant's motion.**

Section 15-48-20(a) states that "if the opposing party denies the existence of the agreement to arbitrate, the court shall proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised . . . ." In their Brief, Appellants argue that the Circuit Court was compelled by section 15-48-20(a) to immediately grant their motion, claiming that Johnson did not deny the existence of an agreement to arbitrate, necessitating immediate arbitration of his claims. (Br. of Appellants at 7). This argument is flawed for four key reasons.

First, by asserting that the Arbitration Agreement was unconscionable, Johnson did deny that a valid arbitration agreement existed. Arbitration is a matter

of contract law and is available only when the parties involved contractually agreed to arbitrate. *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 37, 524 S.E.2d 839, 843-44 (Ct. App. 1999). “Accordingly, a party may seek revocation of the contract under ‘such grounds as exist at law or in equity,’ including fraud, duress, and unconscionability.” *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007). Arbitration will be denied if a circuit court determines that no agreement to arbitrate existed. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a). By asserting that the arbitration agreement was unconscionable at the January 6, 2021 hearing, Johnson, while admitting that the Installation Agreement was signed and existed, simultaneously denied that a valid Arbitration Agreement ever existed, permitting the Circuit Court to find that pre-arbitration discovery was warranted and Appellants’ motion was premature.

Second, Johnson denied that his fraud claims fell under any existing arbitration agreement, as South Carolina law’s outrageous torts exception takes certain claims of fraud outside the scope of an existing arbitration agreement. Torts that are unforeseeable to the reasonable consumer in the context of normal business dealings are outside the scope of a broadly-worded arbitration agreement concerning service. *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007). Under South Carolina law, fraudulent conduct can fall outside the terms of an arbitration clause, depending on the circumstances. *Partain v. Upstate Auto Group*, 386 S.C. 488, 689 S.E.2d 602 (2010). Appellants have not pointed to any South Carolina law requiring Johnson to have produced admissible

evidence demonstrating that the arbitration agreement was inapplicable prior to the Circuit Court's decision. It was well within the Circuit Court's discretion to deny Appellants' motion as premature before any development of the facts concerning Johnson's allegations of fraud could have occurred.

Third, nothing to the undersigned's knowledge within South Carolina statutory or common law prohibits a circuit court from permitting pre-arbitration discovery prior to adjudicating the issue of whether arbitration should be compelled. While section 15-48-20(a) does provide that circuit courts should "proceed summarily to the determination of the issue so raised and shall order arbitration if found for the moving party", South Carolina courts have never explicitly defined what period of time constitutes a summary determination under the statute.

However, other courts routinely permit pre-arbitration discovery prior to making a final determination on the issue of arbitrability. *See Parilla v. IAP Worldwide Servs., V.I., Inc.*, 368 F.3d 269, 284 (3d Cir. 2004); *Deputy v. Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 345 F.3d 494, 511 (7th Cir. 2003); *Qwil PBC v. Landow*, 180 A.D.3d 593, 593-94, 119 N.Y.S.3d 116, 117 (N.Y. App. Div. 2020). Unsurprisingly, there are no South Carolina authorities prohibiting a circuit court's use of pre-arbitration discovery to assist in a final decision on a motion to compel arbitration, and Appellants have cited nothing lending binding authority to their claims.

Appellants contend that Johnson was required to present evidence at the January 6, 2021 hearing to meet a burden of proving the Arbitration Agreement was invalid. Appellants cite *Masters v. KOL, Inc.*, 431 S.C. 28, 37, 846 S.E.2d 893,

897 (Ct. App. 2020), for the proposition that the burden is on the party resisting arbitration to demonstrate that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration. This is true; however, the proposition gleaned from *Masters* pertains to scenarios in which the circuit court is making a final determination as to the arbitrability of the issues. *Masters* did not address section 15-48-20(a) or scenarios where the party opposing arbitration is seeking pre-arbitration discovery. And nowhere within the decision, or within 15-48-20(a), has the Court or the General Assembly created a threshold requirement for a party requesting pre-arbitration discovery to make an evidentiary showing prior to its approval.

Lastly, Appellants failed to raise its arguments as to section 15-48-20(a) to the Circuit Court prior to their untimely Motions to Reconsider. An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider. *Comm. Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Further, because the transcript of the proceedings below is omitted from the record, it appears the first time Commercial Credit made this argument was in its Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for our review.”); *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that a party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not).

Additionally, Appellants Motions to Reconsider appear to have been untimely.<sup>5</sup> The ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e) is an absolute deadline. *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 256, 815 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2018). “The failure to serve a Rule 59(e) motion within ten days of receipt of notice of entry of the order converts the order into a final judgment, and the aggrieved party’s only recourse is to file a notice of intent to appeal.” *Id.* at 257, 815 S.E.2d at 433. As such, the Circuit Court was precluded from considering any of the issues or arguments raised by Appellants in their Motions to Reconsider. For similar reasons, all issues and arguments raised by Brightest Solar, Inc. and Robert Dodge in their Motion to Reconsider were not properly before the Circuit Court due to their apparent neglect in providing a copy of the motion to the Circuit Court.<sup>6</sup> *See Smith v. Fedor*, 422 S.C. 118, 126, 809 S.E.2d 612, 616 (Ct. App. 2017).

Appellants made no argument to the Circuit Court in their motion to compel arbitration or in the initial hearing before the Circuit Court that section 15-48-20(a) required it to immediately dismiss Johnson’s action and compel arbitration. Appellants conceded that the Circuit Court could order pre-arbitration discovery. For these reasons, Appellant’s argument that the Circuit Court was required to

---

<sup>5</sup> This issue was not presented to and ruled on by the Circuit Court, but is preserved for this Court’s review as an additional sustaining ground. *See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000) (“Under the present rules, a respondent—the “winner” in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.”).

<sup>6</sup> The record contains no evidence that a copy was served on the Circuit Court.

immediately grant their motion fails, and the Circuit Court's Orders should be affirmed.

**III. The Circuit Court never ruled on whether Johnson's fraud claim was within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, or whether the entire agreement was unconscionable, and Appellants did not argue the issues with appropriate specificity in their untimely Motions to Reconsider.**

An issue is not preserved when a circuit court does not rule on the issue and the appellant fails to specifically raise the issue in a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991). Appellants seek to bootstrap an argument that the alleged conduct was within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement onto their arguments that the Installation Agreement was a valid, enforceable contract under South Carolina law. Johnson does not maintain that the Installation Agreement did not have an offer, consideration, and an acceptance. However, Johnson certainly challenges Appellants' position that the Arbitration Agreement was not unconscionable, and that the complained of conduct was within the scope of the arbitration agreement. The Circuit Court never ruled on these issues either way, and Appellants failed to specifically raise this to the Circuit Court in their Motions to Reconsider, making the issues unpreserved for the Court's review at this stage in the proceedings. Further, for the reasons discussed above, Appellants' Motions to Reconsider were untimely and therefore could not serve as a vehicle for advancing any such arguments.

Regardless, even if Appellants had preserved these issues, and even if they had been ruled on by the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court was still well within its discretion to postpone arbitration in order to permit pre-arbitration discovery. As a reason the Circuit Court should have granted their motion, Appellants assert that allegations of fraud void an arbitration agreement only when the fraud is directed at the making of the arbitration provision itself. Appellants' argument misapprehends and combines two separate aspects of contract law as they pertain to arbitration agreements.

Appellants' argument is based on language from *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 628, 667 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2008), in which the Court stated that general allegation of fraud in the inducement of a contract are insufficient to prevent the invocation of a contract's arbitration clause. This statement is again true; however, Johnson has not alleged fraud in the inducement of the contract or arbitration agreement as a reason that a valid, enforceable contract does not exist. Johnson's argument addresses a separate theory under South Carolina contract law; that is, whether certain types of fraudulent conduct are unforeseeable and outside the scope of an arbitration agreement. It is under the line of cases reaching from *Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 644 S.E.2d 718 (2007), to *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 791 S.E.2d 128 (2016), that Johnson advances his arguments as to the scope of the Admission Agreement. These cases address a doctrine that is separate and distinct from that discussed in *New Hope Missionary*

*Baptist Church*. And none of these cases require a showing that the fraudulent conduct was specifically directed to the formation of the arbitration agreement.

Further, the factual circumstances before the Circuit Court are not analogous to those that were before the Court in *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church*. There, the church entered an agreement with a contractor to oversee construction of a new church facility. *Id.* at 623, 667 S.E.2d at 2. After a sum was paid to the contractor as specified in the contract, the church brought a declaratory judgment action to determine the existence, validity, and enforceability of the contract. *Id.* at 624, 667 S.E.2d at 2-3. The church's complaint raised issues regarding the validity of the contract, including absence of meeting of the minds, lack of consideration, lack of authority to enter the contract, and ambiguity, and that the contract contained forged signatures. *Id.* at 624-25, 667 S.E.2d at 3. Thus, the complaint did not allege fraudulent conduct related to the performance of the contract or unconscionability. Instead, it alleged that there was fraud in the inducement of the contract. Here, Johnson has alleged a wholly different category of conduct that doesn't challenge the formation of the contract, and instead challenges that the subsequent conduct was outside the scope of the agreement. This makes *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church's* reasoning inapplicable to the Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Circuit Court's Orders.

Regardless, the enforcement, validity, and scope of the Arbitration Agreement are not issues properly before the Court, as they were never ruled on by the Circuit Court. The only question for the Court today is whether the Circuit

Court abused its discretion in denying Appellants' motion in favor of pre-arbitration discovery. The resounding answer to this question should be no, as the Circuit Court was well within reason in seeking development of the record concerning Johnson's allegations of unconscionability and fraud prior to reaching a decision. The Circuit Court's Orders should be affirmed.

**IV. The Circuit Court never ruled on Cross River Bank's request for dismissal, and Cross River Bank failed to timely raise the issue in a Rule 59(e) motion.**

In the Palmetto Solar entities and Sunlight Financial, LLC's December 16, 2020 Motion to Compel Arbitration, footnote 1 indicates that Cross River Bank was also moving to dismiss under Rule 12, SCRCP. At the January 6, 2021 hearing on the motion, counsel for Palmetto Solar and Sunlight Financial, LLC did not advance any arguments in favor of dismissal of Cross River Bank, and instead represented to the Circuit Court that Cross River Bank was not properly before the court on that day, and that he was "really just here for Palmetto Solar and Sunline Financial." (R. p. 25, lines 12-15). The Circuit Court's Order makes no mention of Cross River Bank or its request for dismissal. (R. p. 1-3).

No motion for reconsideration was timely filed within the ten-day deadline. *See Altman v. Griffith*, 372 S.C. 388, 396, 642 S.E.2d 619, 623 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Where a party raises an issue, but the issue is never ruled on by the trial court, and the party fails to file a motion to alter or amend, the issue is not preserved."). Thus, the issue of whether Cross River Bank had been sufficiently served with

process is not preserved for the Court's review, and the Circuit Court's Orders should be affirmed so far as they do not address the issue of service.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court's January 8, 2021 and August 12, 2021 Orders should be affirmed.

PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP

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